In the Supreme Court of Florida

Case No. SC00-2176 Lower Tribunal: 3D99-00569

# UNITED CONTRACTORS CORP., a/k/a UNITED CONTRACTORS, INC.,

Petitioner,

VS.

MARIA MINERVA HERNANDEZ, as Personal Representative of the Estate of ARIEL HERNANDEZ and individually,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida.

## AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

SHERIDAN WEISSENBORN PAPY, WEISSENBORN, POOLE & VRASPIR P.A. 3001 PONCE DE LEON BLVD CORAL GABLES, FLA. 33134 PHONE: (305)-446-5100 FLA. BAR NO: 165960

# CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

This brief has been typed in Times New Roman 14 font.

##

## **INTRODUCTION**

The Petitioner, United Contractors Corp., a/k/a United Contractors Inc., was a defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief of Petitioner on the merits we will refer to United Contractors as "United." The Respondent, Maria Minerva Hernandez, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Ariel Hernandez and individually was a plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief of Petitioner on the merits we will refer to Maria Hernandez as "Plaintiff."

The symbol "R" shall stand for Record on Appeal. The symbol "A" will stand for the Appendix herein. All emphasis is ours unless the contrary is indicated.

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

United seeks this writ of certiorari because the District Court of Appeal, Third District reversed a trial court's summary judgment in its favor, in a wrongful death suit, against Plaintiff because Plaintiff had filed a workers' compensation claim and then agreed to accept settlement proceeds from her deceased husband's employer, C.A. Associates, who was hired by United to perform certain of its duties at a construction site. ( R 1022-1032)

On August 2, 1995, Plaintiff's husband, Ariel, was killed when he was pinned against a dredge by a front end loader driven by United's employee. (R 2-8) On November 15, 1995, in the Circuit Court in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida, Plaintiff filed a suit for wrongful death arising out of Ariel's death in this industrial accident. (R2-8) She initially sued Lennar Homes, the property owner, and C.A. Associates, hereinafter referred to as "C.A.,." Approximately one year and a few months thereafter Plaintiff filed a second suit, in the same judicial circuit, for the same accidental death of Ariel against United. (R 824-828) Approximately one month thereafter Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed her case against C.A. (A 1-4) She then amended her complaint against United and asked that the case against United and the case against Lennar be consolidated, which they were. (R 829-835; 843-844) United responded to the complaint by alleging affirmative defenses including that the Plaintiff's exclusive remedy was for Workman's Compensation under Chapter 44O of the Florida Statutes in that United was a statutory employer of the deceased and could not be sued . (R 836-838)

On June 27, 1997 while the tort suit was pending against United the Plaintiff affirmatively sought relief in the Florida Division of Workers' Compensation by filing a form entitled Request for Assistance setting forth her claim for all death benefits due to her and the minor children of Ariel arising out of the industrial accident.( R 375-376;A 5-6) She also filed a Petition for Benefits as Personal Representative of Ariel's Estate under the Florida Worker's Compensation Law. ( R 377-378; A 7-8 ) One month later Plaintiff filed a second Petition for Benefits for she and the children but on this occasion she signed the petition individually together with counsel. ( R 379-380; A 9-10)

On December 14, 1998 the Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in its favor based upon the fact it had learned Plaintiff had accepted, a settlement of the workers' compensation claim she had filed during mediation thereof. (R 342-380) The trial court granted the motion on the basis of the election of remedies doctrine as United was the statutory employer of the deceased. (R 1020-1021) Plaintiff timely appealed the decision of the trial court to the Third District Court of Appeal. On July 5, 2000 the Third District Court of Appeal reversed that summary judgment. (A 11-19) United timely sought a rehearing, rehearing en banc ( because this decision was so materially different from previous decisions of the Court) and asked that the Court certify this matter to this Honorable Court. In addition both United and Plaintiff asked the court to clarify its opinion since it was unclear whether the court was reversing the summary judgment as to both the mother and the children or only for the children. The District Court did clarify its order of reversal by making it clear that it applied to both the mother and the children and denied all other requested relief of United. This writ of certiorari followed.

### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

The Defendant respectfully rephrases the Plaintiffs Points involved on

Appeal as follows:

I.

WHETHER THE PROSECUTION & SETTLEMENT OF A WORKERS' COMPENSATION CLAIM BARS THAT SAME CLAIMANT AND THOSE WHO CLAIM THROUGH SAID CLAIMANT FROM PURSUING A TORT CLAIM ARISING OUT OF THE SAME INCIDENT WHEN THE TORT CLAIM IS AGAINST THE STATUTORY EMPLOYER OF THE DECEASED WORKER?

II

WHETHER A SETTLEMENT MADE PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 440 FLA. STAT. REQUIRES THE APPOINTMENT OF A GUARDIAN AND APPROVAL OF THE PROBATE COURT PURSUANT TO § 744.387 FLA. STAT. WHEN MINOR CHILDREN ARE INVOLVED IN THE CLAIM?

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Plaintiff's husband Ariel, employed by C.A. on August 2, 1995, went to the construction site, located in south Miami-Dade County, Florida, and was unfortunately pinned between a front end loader and a dredge causing his demise. ( R 2-8) The property was owned by Lennar and was being excavated by United. (R 35-36) During this on going excavation United hired CA to perform certain of its obligations under its contract with Lennar. (R 698-699)

The day following Ariel's death, Craig Davidson, the vice president of C.A., filed an served a "Notice of Injury", pursuant to Florida's Workers' Compensation Act, wherein he set forth that Plaintiff's husband had been employed by C.A. from July 28, 1995, and was continuing in that employment on the date of his death. (R 393; 369; A 20) This same "Notice" set forth that Ariel was paid for work on the date of his death. (R 369; A 20) In response to this Notice, however, C.A.'s insurance carrier contested compensability.(R 370-371)

Hence, Plaintiff sought a tort remedy for the wrongful death of Ariel against both the property owner and C.A. (R 2-8) In that action she claimed that her husband was an invitee onto the property on the day of his death and that C.A. was engaged in excavation of the property for Lennar (R 2-8), when one of C.A. employees had caused the death of her husband. (R 3) In addition she claimed negligent supervision, failure to warn, to train and other negligent acts against CA. (R 3-8)

In January of 1997, Plaintiff filed this suit which was another suit (and the second suit claiming damages for the death of her husband) concerning her husband's death. In this second suit she claimed that her husband was killed by the negligence acts of an employee of United. (in the second suit the one before this Court she makes the same claims she made against C.A. in the prior suit). ( R 824-828)

In February 1997 she voluntarily dismissed her tort claim against C.A. (A 1-4) In March of 1997, United responded to the Complaint against it and plead as an affirmative defense that the Plaintiff's exclusive remedy was that provided to her by virtue of Chapter 440 Fla. Stat. - - the Florida Workers' Compensation Act -- because it was a statutory employer of the deceased and Workman's Compensation was his exclusive remedy at to United and C.A.. (R 836-838)

At the end of June 1997, Plaintiff, while this tort claim against United and Lennar was pending affirmatively sought relief in the workers' compensation forum for she and her children by filing a Request for Assistance and a Petition for Benefits against C.A. as the employer of Ariel on the date of his death. (R 375-376;A 5-10) In this proceeding she now claimed Ariel was in the course and scope

-7-

of his employment on the day of his death with C.A. and that while so employed he was killed at the construction site owned by Lennar. (R 375-379; A 5-10) C.A.'s workers' compensation carrier contested this claim for Ariel's death on the basis of whether or not Ariel was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of his death. (R 363)

In May of 1998, C.A.'s worker's compensation carrier and Plaintiff, who was represented by counsel, agreed to settle the compensation claim for \$12,207.00 (R 352, 356, 360) In the furtherance of this settlement Plaintiff executed a Joint Stipulation for Settlement and an Affidavit, both of which were sworn. (R 352-

362) In addition to having signed the Joint Stipulation and Petition for Order Approving a Lump Sum Settlement, the Plaintiff executed an Affidavit. ( R 361-362) In the Stipulation she set forth that she believed the information therein contained to be truthful and that on the day of his death Ariel sustained his fatal injury while working as a laborer for C.A. ( R 353) In the Affidavit, after being duly sworn and cautioned to tell the truth, she stated Ariel, who sustained a fatal injury while in the course of his employment on August 2, 1995, while working for C.A. ( R 361-362 ) She, further, stated she felt the settlement was in her best interest. ( R 362 )

When United found out about the settlement that Plaintiff had entered into it

moved for a Summary Judgment. (R 342-380) In response to this Motion Plaintiff filed two counter affidavits. (R 381-388) These affidavits were from C.A.'s carrier's attorney and her own attorney in the workers' compensation case. (R 381-388) In each the attorney's set forth that the workers' compensation claim was contested over whether Ariel was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of his death. (R 381-388) In the affidavit filed by C.A.'s carrier counsel set forth that he felt he would win the case and in the affidavit of Plaintiff's counsel he set forth he was not sure he could prove the death occurred in the course and scope of employment. (R 381-388)

At the hearing for summary judgment Plaintiff's argument was that she should not be precluded from continuing her tort claim against United not because United was not a statutory employer of Ariel but because there was a hotly contested issue over whether she could or could not sustain the compensability so she took a compromise settlement as a matter of convenience, therefore, she should not be barred from also seeking damages against the statutory employer under a theory of election of remedies. (R 1000-1003) In this regard she argued that now although she stated otherwise in the compensation affidavit that there was a doubt as to whether Ariel was working on the day of his death and therefore, she should be entitled to proceed because that was a factual issue. (R 1001-1002) She also argued that the acceptance of the benefits should not be deemed a bar to the children since she never obtained approval by the probate court for the settlement regarding the children.<sup>1</sup> ( R 1004-1005) The trial court considered all arguments and ruled that the Plaintiff and the children were estopped from proceeding on the tort claim by virtue of having sought affirmative relief in the workers' compensation forum and by accepting a settlement, albeit for less than the full amount of benefits a widow and children may have been entitled to. ( R 1020-1021) This estoppel applied because United was the statutory employer of Ariel and the Plaintiff would not be entitled to relief in both courts.

Plaintiff, thereafter, sought relief from the Third District Court of Appeal and said relief was granted. (R 1022-1030) The gist of her argument was as it had been in the trial court. The Third District looked at the situation and although in numerous cases before it had upheld an estoppel in this case it found that the Plaintiff, although represented by counsel could not have consciously been accepting the benefits and therefore she and the children should not be bound by the decision to accept benefits. The District Court agreed and reversed this case. ( R 1022-1030) The District Court based its decision on the fact that because this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this regard she argued not only that there was no guardian but as well that there could not have been intent to bind the children since the papers were silent as to how much money the children were to receive.

was a compromised settlement the Plaintiff should not have been bound by her actions in that she did not make a conscious choice between the two cases and because there was no approval of the settlement by the probate court on behalf of the minor children.

In overruling its prior decisions with regard to the issue of election of remedies it relied upon *Velez v. Oxford Development Co.*, 457 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> D.C.A. 1991) The Court then held that § 744.387 Fla. Stat. required the approval of the probate court before the settlement could operate as a bar to the claim of the minor children. This writ followed that opinion.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where a Personal Representative of an Estate actively seeks and then accepts worker's compensation benefits he may not then additionally seek tort damages from the statutory employer of the decedent. In the instant case this is exactly what the Plaintiff is seeking. She wants to accept workers' compensation benefits and she wants to pursue damages in tort for the same accident from the general contractor who had employed the subcontractor, whom the decedent worked for at the time of his accident. The Workers' Compensation law does not allow for a double recovery. Yet this is what the Plaintiff is seeking to do thru the guise of claiming that she only settled the worker's compensation claim as a matter of convenience and that she could not and did not bind her children to this election. However, she was the personal representative and the natural guardian of the children.

The law is clear that once a party elects one of two remedies they may not then seek to recover upon the second remedy. Therefore, since the Plaintiff accepted benefits from the workers' compensation carrier she was barred from pursuing any tort claims that she may have had for the same accident against a statutory employer.

The workers' compensation statute has its own requirements for the

approval of a settlement allowing the Judge of that forum to determine whether to approve or not approve a settlement. § 440.17 Fla. Stat. The District Court's determination that the approval of a probate court and the appointment of a guardian for the minor children was misplaced. Statutorily the compensation judge is granted the discretion in this matter and the District Court has in effect placed the acts of those Judges in doubt as to whether they must comply with the probate code before accepting a settlement involving a minor.

Therefore, the decision of the District Court should be reversed so that the action of the Judges in those Courts should be regulated by Chapter 440.

In conclusion the decision of the District Court should be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### <u>I.</u>

# THE PROSECUTION OF A WORKERS' COMPENSATION CLAIM BARS THAT SAME CLAIMANT AND THOSE WHO CLAIM THROUGH SAID CLAIMANT FROM PURSUING A TORT CLAIM AGAINST THE STATUTORY EMPLOYER FOR INJURIES AND DEATH AS A RESULT OF THE SAME ACCIDENT

In 1935 the Florida Legislature passed the first Workers' Compensation Act.

See Chapter 1748 Laws of Florida, which is now known as Chapter 440. The

purpose of the passage of the act was set forth as being a comprehensive plan to

renounce the common law rights then in existence and to provide to employers a limited and determinative liability while providing to employees an expeditious remedy independent of fault. *McClean v. Mundy*, 81 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1955) *citing to Bradford Electric Light Co. v. Clapper*, 286 U.S. 145, 52 S.Ct. 571, 76 L.Ed. 1026 (1932) This intended purpose is unchanged. § 440.015, Fla. Stat. (1995) Because of Chapter 440's intended purpose it has been held that the Act is remedial in nature and should be given a liberal construction by the courts to effectuate its purpose. *Gillespie v. Anderson*, 123 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1960)

In § 440.10(1)(a) (1995) the Legislature provided that every employer coming within Chapter 440's provisions shall be liable for ... the payment to his employees, ... of the compensation payable under §§ 440.13, 440.15, and 440.16.<sup>2</sup> In § 440.11(1) (1995) the Legislature provided in pertinent part:

> The liability of any employer prescribed in § 440.10 <u>shall be exclusive and in place of all other liability</u> of such employer to any third party tort feasor and to the employee, the legal representative, thereof husband or wife, parents, dependents, next of kin, and anyone otherwise entitled to recover damages from such employer at law or in admiralty on account of such injury or death.

In § 440.10(1)(b) Fla. Stat. the Legislature created a common relationship

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> § 440.16 would be the applicable section involved in the instant case.

among all employees on a construction site as between the contractor and the subcontractors. In particular:

In case a contractor sublets any part or parts of his contract work to a subcontractor or subcontractors, all of the employees of such contractor engaged on such contract work shall be deemed to be employed in one and the same business or establishment; and the contractor shall be liable for, and shall secure, the payment of compensation to all such employees, except at to employees of a subcontractor who has secured such payment. § 440.10(b) *id*.

This concept of joint employment has been in existence since 1940. *Younger v. Giller Contracting Co.*, 143 Fla. 335, 196 So. 690 (1940) In the instant case United was the general contractor and C.A. was a subcontractor.<sup>3</sup> C.A. had insurance so it was not necessary for United to secure additional insurance.§ 440.10 Fla. Stat.(1995) Hence, for all purposes United was the statutory employer of the deceased at the time of his death by law. *Younger*, supra.; *Motchkavitz v. L.C. Bogg Industries, Inc.,* 407 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981) and *See Gator Freightways, Inc. v. Roberts*, 550 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 1989)

The courts hold that where a subcontractor's employee has been injured on the job site and there is workers' compensation insurance provided by either the general contractor or the subcontractor to secure the payment of benefits to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This role as statutory employer was never disputed by Plaintiff

injured worker, regardless of whether the general contractor or subcontractor secured the payments of benefits <u>the immunity extended by law from a tort</u> <u>claim inures to the benefit of both the contractor and the subcontractor and</u> <u>both remain free from a tort claim.</u> *Younger,* supra.; *Motchkavitz,* supra.; *Reed v. Henry Beck Co.,* 510 So.2d 613 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> D.C.A. 1987); *Delta Airlines v. Cunningham,* 658 So.2d 556 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> D.C.A. 1987); *Ferraro v Marr,* 467 So.2d 809 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> D.C.A. 1985); *Ferraro v. Marr,* 490 So.2d 188 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> D.C.A. 1986); *Gator,* supra.; § 440.10(1)(b) Fla. Stat. (1995)

It being the purpose of workers' compensation law that where a party seeks affirmative relief in the workers' compensation forum all who would be entitled to the exclusive remedy provided thereunder would be relieved of liability in a tort claim. *Motchkavitz*, supra.; *Delta*, supra.; *Ferraro*,, supra.; *Michael v. Centex-Rooney Const. Co.*, 645 So.2d 133 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> D.C.A. 1994); *Mandico v. Taos Const. Co.*, 605 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1993); *Akins v. Hudson Pulp and Paper Co.*, 330 So.2d 757 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> D.C.A. 1976) The courts have premised this immunity from a tort claim on the theory of election of remedies and/or estoppel. *Akins*, supra.; *Delta*, supra. *Mandico*, supra. *Rooney*, supra.; *Ferraro*, supra (1986); *Velez*, supra. The courts have also distinguished the payment of benefits on a voluntary basis as versus those where some affirmative action has been taken by the claimant. *Velez*.

supra.; Wishart v. Laidlaw Tree Serv., Inc., 573 So.2d 183 (Fla. 2nd D.C.A. 1991)

In those cases, however, where the claimant did seek affirmative relief in the workers's compensation forum the election has been upheld on the basis of election or estoppel. *Akins*, supra.; *Ferraro*, supra; *Mandico*, supra. *Delta*, supra.; *Ferguson v. Elna*, 421 So.2d 805 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> D.C.A. 1982) An election of remedies applies where there are inconsistent remedies and the party chooses one of them which then precludes the other. *American Process Co. v. Florida White Pressed Brick Co.*, 56 Fla. 116, 47 So.942 (1908)

'If the allegations of facts necessary to support one remedy are substantially inconsistent with those necessary to support the other, then the adoption of one remedy waives the right to the other. A party will not be permitted to enforce wholly inconsistent demands respecting the same rights]. It is not permissible to both approbate and reprobate in asserting the same right in the courts....

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