IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2176

UNITED CONTRACTORS CORP., a/k/a UNITED CONTRACTORS, INC.,

Petitioner,

VS.

MINERVA HERNANDEZ, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Ariel Hernandez, and Individually,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION ON THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT ON THE GROUNDS OF EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT OF DECISIONS

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAY M. LEVY, ESQUIRE JAY M. LEVY, P.A. 9130 SOUTH DADELAND BOULEVARD TWO DATRAN CENTER, SUITE 1701 MIAMI, FLORIDA 33156 PHONE: (305) 670-8100

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

Summary of Argument

Ι

In order for the settlement of the workers' compensation case to constitute an election of workers' compensation and a rejection of a civil tort remedy, Plaintiff must have a conscious intention to accept to accept the workers' compensation remedy. An election of remedies can only occur when there has been a disposition in some manner of the issue of whether the plaintiff/Claimant was injured in the course and scope of employment. This disposition can take many forms. It can be an adjudication by a circuit judge or a judge of compensation claims that the accident occurred in the

course and scope of employment. It can be in a settlement where the plaintiff/Claimant accepts workers' compensation benefits without any reservation so that it can be concluded that the parties implicitly agreed that the matter was within workers' compensation. It can be by explicit agreement. In the instant case there was no adjudication or agreement, either explicit or implicit, which resolved the issue of course and scope. Even though there was a nuisance/minimal settlement of the workers' compensation claim, the settlement papers indicated the issue of course and scope was not resolved and remained undecided. Under this circumstance, Plaintiff did not have the conscious intent to elect the workers' compensation remedy. The decision of the District Court of Appeal rendered below should be affirmed.

The settlement was for nuisance/minimal value. As opposed to other benefits available under workers' compensation which are dependent on percentage of disability, length of time out of work, and/or need for medical care, the total of death benefits to which a Claimant is entitled is immediately quantifiable. §440.17, Fla. Stat.. In the case at bar, due to the impossibility of proving that Decedent's death occurred in the course and scope of employment, the workers' compensation claim was settled for mere cents on the dollar. As a result, from the standpoint of workers' compensation Plaintiff was not made whole because she did not receive the entirety of the benefits to which she was entitled. There can be no election of remedies unless the remedy selected makes the injured party whole. As this did not occur in the case at bar the decision of the District Court of Appeal rendered below should be affirmed.

The minor children received no money from the settlement. None of the settlement papers or the order approving the settlement and awarding the benefits make reference to the minor children. Assuming that the Plaintiff's petition for benefits included a claim for the minor children, merely filing a claim is not enough to constitute an election of remedies. There must also be receipt of benefits. Here there was none. The minor children have not elected the remedy of workers' compensation to the exclusion of tort. The decision of the District Court of Appeal rendered below should be affirmed.

Π

There is nothing in the language of §744.387, Fla. Stat. which limits its application to civil matters. By its plain language this statute applies to any claims. The salutary purpose of the statute, the protection of minors, is equally applicable to settlements in workers' compensation as it is to settlements in civil actions. There is no comparable workers' compensation statute that protects the minor and be considered as preempting the application of §744.387, Fla. Stat. to workers' compensation matters. As there was no compliance with §744.387, Fla. Stat., the settlement is ineffective as to the minor children. The decision of the District Court

of Appeal rendered below should be affirmed.

VI

<u>Argument</u>

<u>Point I</u>

THE PROSECUTION & SETTLEMENT OF A WORKERS' COMPENSATION CLAIM BARS THAT SAME CLAIMANT AND THOSE WHO CLAIM THROUGH SAID CLAIMANT FROM PURSUING A TORT CLAIM ARISING OUT OF THE SAME INCIDENT WHEN THE TORT CLAIM IS AGAINST THE STATUTORY EMPLOYER OF THE DECEASED WORKER

At the outset, this court should note that the issue of whether Plaintiff's settlement of the workers' compensation claim at mediation for a relatively nominal sum constituted an election of remedies relates only to Plaintiff's individual claim. As noted by the court below, there were two additional reasons why the Plaintiff's settlement of the workers' compensation claim did not constitute an election of remedies as to the minor children. First, there was no evidence that the children had received any of the death benefits paid by the workers' compensation carrier pursuant to the settlement (R.1028-1029). Second, the settlement was ineffective as to the children because there was no compliance with §744.387, Fla. Stat. with regard to the settlement (R. 1029-1030). For this reason, in order to find that the settlement constituted an election of remedies as to the minor children, this court must hold the

District Court was wrong on all three prongs of its holding as to the minor children.

А

Initially, United was not Decedent's employer. Rather United maintained it was Decedent's statutory employer under §440.10(1)(b), Fla. Stat. and for this reason partook of CA's immunity from suit. In making this argument United overlooks that the record in this case does not establish United's standing as a statutory employer under §440.10(1)(b), Fla. Stat.. For this reason, United's entire argument is misplaced and this court has improvidently accepted jurisdiction over this case.

In *Delta Airlines v. Cunningham*, 658 So.2d 556 (Fla. 3DCA 1995), *rev. den.* 668 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1996), the District Court considered the meaning of §440.10(1)(b), Fla. Stat. which creates the statutory employer:

Section 440.10(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1993), stated that "[I]n case a contractor sublets any part or parts of his contract work to a subcontractor... All of the employees of such contractor and subcontractor or subcontractors engaged on such contract work shall be deemed to be employed in one and the same business or establishment." Here, as a common carrier, Delta has an express and implied contractual obligation to its customers to maintain its equipment properly, and it subcontracted part of that overall responsibility to Imex.... Pursuant to the explicit language of 440.10, Cunningham is considered to be Delta's employee.

Id. at 557.

See also: Aerovias Colombianas, LTDA v. Paiz, 695 So.2d 822 (Fla. 3DCA), rev. den.

700 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1997). In order for United to occupy the status of a statutory employer three elements must be satisfied. First United must have a contractual obligation. Second, part or all of the contractual obligation must be subcontracted to CA. Third, the Decedent must be injured while performing the subcontracted work. There is nothing in this record which establishes that Decedent was performing work which had been delegated by United to CA at the time of his death.¹ Consequently, United can not be considered a statutory employer of Decedent at the time of his death and is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity.²

В

The issue before this court is whether the settlement of a workers' compensation claim for a minimal sum without a determination of whether the accident occurred within the course and scope of employment constitutes an election of remedies. In *McCormick v. Bodeker*, 119 Fla. 20, 166 So. 483, 484 (1935), this court stated the general rule as to the effect of an election of remedies:

 $^{^{1}}$ Craig Davidson, CA's vice president testified that Decedent was killed in a remote area away from where he would have working if he had been working for CA (R. 454). At the very least such testimony establishes there was an issue of fact on this issue which prevented the entry of summary judgment.

² As a result, Plaintiff believes this court has improvidently accepted his case and should decline to exercise jurisdiction since the underlying facts do not allow the issue of workers' compensation immunity to be raised.

Where the remedies afforded are inconsistent it is the election of one of such remedies which operates as a bar; but where the remedies afforded are consistent it is the satisfaction of the claim which operates as a bar.

This cause is governed by the former rule, since it is universally held that a civil tort action and a claim for workers' compensation are inconsistent remedies. *Wishart v. Laidlaw Lawn Service*, 573 So.2d 183 (Fla. 2DCA 1991). Thus, the discrete issue presented by this case is what actually constitutes an election of remedies and whether such an election took place in the case at bar. *Williams v. Robineau*, 124 Fla. 422, 168 So. 644 (1936), this court noted:

An election of remedies presupposes a right to elect. It is a choice shown by an overt act between two inconsistent rights, either of which may be asserted at the will of the chooser alone. It is generally conceded that to be conclusive it must be efficacious to some extent. A position taken which does not injure the opposite party is not an election which precludes a change or raises an estoppel.

Id. at $646.^3$

³ An adjudication of a civil claim adverse to the plaintiff by summary judgment has been held to be efficacious and bar a subsequent workers' compensation claim brought by plaintiff against the Defendant because the election matured when the judgment was entered adjudicating the rights of the parties. *Hume v. Thomason*, 440 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1983). *See also: Pearson v. Harris*, 449 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1DCA 1984)(Adjudication by workers' compensation court that plaintiff was an employee is efficacious and binding in civil proceeding against employer); *Chorak v. Naughton*, 409 So.2d 35 (Fla. 2DCA 1982)(same).

In *Williams v. Duggan*, 153 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1963), this court held that the mere filing of a workers' compensation claim does not constitute an election of remedies. This court noted:

The filing of an action or the filing of a claim together with the procedural steps preliminary to the dismissal as in this case, without any disposition of the issues on the merits, does not in our judgment amount to an election between alternative remedies where they exist.

Id. at 727.

The compensation claim must be pursued to a determination or conclusion on the merits in order for an election of remedies to arise. *Lowry v. Logan*, 650 So.2d 653 (Fla. 1DCA), *rev. den*. 659 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1995). Under the foregoing rule, in order for an election to occur, there must be a resolution of the issue of whether the accident is within the Workers' Compensation Act in some manner. This resolution can take the form of an adjudication or a settlement in which the resolution of the issue is acknowledged either explicitly or implicitly by the parties. For example, mere receipt of voluntary payments of workers' compensation indemnity and/or medical benefits without a claim being filed does not constitute an election of remedies. *Velez v. Oxford Development Co.*, 457 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 3DCA 1984), *rev. en.* 467 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1995); *Wishart v. Laidlaw Lawn Service, supra.*; *Wright v. Douglas N. Higgins, Inc.*, 617 So.2d 460 (Fla. 3DCA), *rev. den*. 626 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1993). This is because

the receipt of such payments without a claim does not resolve the issue of whether the Claimant suffered an accident in the course and scope of his employment.

From the foregoing cases, Plaintiff gleans that in order for there to be an election of remedies two elements must be present: A claim or request for workers compensation benefits from the employee; and, Payment by the carrier in response to the request. Only when both elements are confluent can it be concluded that the accident occurred within the course and scope of employment because under these circumstances the issue of course and scope is concluded by the implicit if not explicit agreement of the parties to the compensation case. The case at bar falls outside of this rule because the settlement stipulation specifically indicated there was no agreement that the Decedent's death occurred within the course and scope of his employment, thus leaving the key issue undisposed and unresolved. Under these circumstances, under Williams v. Duggan, supra. and its progeny, there is no election and Plaintiff lacked the conscious intent to elect the remedy of workers' compensation over that of civil tort liability. See: Mandico v. Taos Construction, Inc., 605 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1992)(One will be found to have elected workers' compensation as an exclusive remedy where there is evidence of a conscious choice of remedies); Lowry v. Logan, supra.(same).

In addition to the non-resolved issue of whether Decedent was injured in the

course and scope of his employment, the settlement of the workers' compensation claim was for nuisance value. Attorney Breslow in his affidavit stated that the available death benefit far exceeded the amount of the settlement (R. 821). The settlement was effectuated for cents on the dollar because Plaintiff was unable to prove that the Decedent's death occurred within the course and scope of his employment. The absence of such proof represented the death knell of the workers' compensation claim. As attorney Ben Levy, who represented CA and its worker's compensation insurer stated in his affidavit:

- 5. This matter was settled for a sum significantly less than the amount of death benefits Claimant would be entitled to under the Florida's Workers' Compensation Act. The case was settled as a matter of convenience to the Carrier's defense on the merits.
- 6. It is my professional opinion that had the case gone to trial, the Employer/Carrier would have prevailed on the issue of whether the Claimant was employed within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

(R.818).

Plaintiff's attorney in the workers' compensation matter, Jeff Breslow, echoed

Levy's opinion:

6. The death benefits in this case awardable under the Worker's Compensation Act were far in excess of the amount of settled for in the worker's compensation case. This is because the case was very difficult and the Claimant would not have been able to establish that the Decedent was

an employee of CA Associates and was within the course and scope of his employment at the time of his demise.

(R.821)

Thus, both attorneys in the workers' compensation case swore that Plaintiff could not prove Decedent was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of his demise.⁴ The case was settled for nuisance/minimal value as a matter of convenience because both attorneys knew that if a trial were held, the probable finding was that the Decedent's death did not arise out of the course and scope of his employment. As a result the settlement was minimal and for substantially less death benefits than Plaintiff was entitled under §440.16, Fla. Stat.. Plaintiff did not receive the entirety of benefits to which she was entitled in workers' compensation and has not been made whole.⁵ For this additional reason the settlement does not suffice as an election of

⁴ As is established in the statement of the facts set forth in this brief, at the very least there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Decedent was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident since both United's representatives and CA's representative testified that the project was closed at the time of Decedent's death. United's election of remedies argument represents an attempt to "end run" this testimony by arguing as a matter of law that Plaintiff is estopped to contend Decedent was not in the course and scope of his employment at the time of his death.

⁵ The purpose of the election of remedies doctrine is to prevent double recovery. *Villeneuve v. Atlas Yacht Sales*, 483 So.2d 67 (Fla. 4DCA 1986), *aff.* 505 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1987). Here there is no threat of double recovery because Plaintiff receive mere nuisance value for her workers' compensation claim which from a plain reading of the statute, was worth far in excess of her settlement which was effected

remedies.6

In reversing the summary judgment, the court below relied upon both of these deficiencies when it noted that CA chose to buy its way out of the workers' compensation claim for nuisance value (substantially less than full value) without any adjudication or agreement that the death occurred within the course and scope of Decedent's employment (R. 1027). The District Court believed the presence of these elements was critical to establishing a conscious intent on the part of Plaintiff to elect a workers' compensation remedy (R. 1027). The court below was correct in its reasoning and its opinion should be approved by this court.

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